IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MASSACHUSETTS BONDING & INSURANCE COMPANY,

: PETITION FOR A WRIT OF

Petitioners,

: CERTIORARI TO THE

vs.

: FLORIDA INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION.

MRS. FANNIE MAE STEVENSON and FLORIDA INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION,

Respondents.

BRIEF

upon behalf of

PETITIONER S

Raymer F. Maguire, Jr.
Maguire, Voorhis & Wells
135 Wall St. (P.O.Box 633)
Orlando, Florida

Attorneys for Petitioners.

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a Workmen's Compensation case. The Petitioners are the employer and insurance carrier. The respondents are the claimant and the Florida Industrial Commission. The claimant, Fannie Mae Stephenson, the mother of William L. Stephenson, deceased, filed a claim with the Florida Industrial Commission claiming dependency on the 17 year old employee.

The Deputy Commissioner entered an order finding that partial dependency existed, awarded 50% of the maximum dependency benefits.

The Full Commission purported to affirm the award but disagreed with the manner of payment. In revising the manner of payment the Full Commission ordered 100% dependency benefits.

The following symbols and abbreviations will be used in this brief:

R for Record on Appeal A for Appendix to Petitioner's Brief

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A concise statement of the facts of this case is set forth in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, under the heading: "Statement of Facts of Cause" and in the interest of brevity is adopted here by reference.

POINTS INVOLVED ON APPEAL

- I. Can the mother of a minor boy be dependent upon him when his earnings do not exceed the cost of support, when husband's earnings are ample for the family.
- II. Does the delivery of irregular earnings of 17 year old son to his mother constitute the regular contributions toward the support and maintenance as required by law for proof of dependency.

- III. Did the Full Commission err in finding that the award of the deputy was supported by competent substantial evidence.
- IV. Was there any authority of law for the Full Commission to modify the award of the Deputy Commissioner in effect doubling the award.
- V. Was the claimant's dependency on her 17 year old son, if it ever existed, terminated when she returned to her husband, who was earning \$500.00 per month, following the death of her son.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

Can the mother of a minor boy be dependent upon him when his earnings do not exceed the cost of support, when husband's earnings are ample for the family.

In order for a minor wage earner to have someone dependent upon him, the wage earner must earn more than their own cost of support. This Court adopted this view in deciding the case of Cross vs. Sumter County, 152 Fla., 13So2d 219, with these words:

"At no time could the contributions made have exceeded the cost of support."

9 Schneider, Workmen's Compensation Text 5, Section 1901, states the general rule to be:

"If a son pays the mother no more than the reasonable value of his board and lodging, she is generally not considered dependent upon him for support."

and again at page 64 in section 1915:

"Only that portion of the contribution that was used by the mother for her own support can be considered in her application for compensation."

2 Larson's Workmen's Compensation Law 104 summerizes the law in these words:

"It has been frequently held that if the decedent's contribution is offset by the value of the board and room received, he is doing no more than to

'pull his own weight', with nothing left over to represent support of dependents."

In the case at bar the minor son's gross earnings, according to the testimony most favorable to the claimant, did not exceed \$200.00 for at least 22 weeks prior to his This is less than \$1.30 per day. The decedent has not been employed prior to this 22 week period - he left Florida to go to Rockford, Illinois because he could not find employment in Orlando. Thus, the period over which the maximum of \$200.00 must be prorated is actually longer than 22 weeks. One of the two sisters with whom the decedent lived during the 22 week period prior to his death, estimated that his earnings had not exceeded \$100.00 for the That would make his daily average earnings 65 cents per day. All of the witnesses for claimant, including the claimant, testified that the only employment that the deceased had ever had was "odds and ends."

One of the three employers for whom the decedent was supposed to have worked during the 22 week period preceding his death, testified that the claimant had earned \$11.75 from him. Another of these employers testified that she had not employed the decedent but that she had given him a quarter on three or four occasions. The third alleged employer had moved and his whereabouts was unknown to the claimant's family. This employer, at most, employed the deceased for two weeks.

The Deputy Commissioner, in making her award did not make any findings of fact as to the amount the claimant had earned during the 22 week period preceding his death.

She made no findings of fact as to the deceased's earnings at any other period. There was no finding of fact as to how much money the decedent turned over to his mother. There was no finding of fact that decedent's earnings exceeded his cost of support. There was no finding of fact that the decedent had made regular contributions to the claimant.

There were no findings of fact on any of these vital elements of proof of dependency because there were no facts in the record from which such findings could be made which would be supported by competent substantial evidence. The findings of fact were not made because, if findings of fact based on the evidence had been made, using the evidence most favorable to the claimant, there could not have been a decision favorable to the claimant.

Panama City Stevedoring Co. vs. Padgett, 149 Fla. 687, 6
So2d 822. This must include proof that at the time of the
accident claimant was dependent on the deceased for
support, that actual and substantial support was being
received by claimant from deceased, that such actual and
substantial support had been regularly made. The facts
in the record of this case do not support any of these
burdens of proof that the claimant must meet. During
the 22 weeks, which obviously is almost six months,
preceding the accident of deceased, he had only earned a
maximum of \$200.00. The only money that claimant received
in the three weeks preceding the death of the minor son
was from her husband. During the entire 22 week period,

and for a long time prior thereto claimant's husband was earning \$500.00 per month. It is obvious from the record that one of the major causes of the separation of claimant and her husband was due to her dissatisfaction with the standard of living he permitted for the family. The mere fact that the wife would like to have a higher standard of living (and one which the husband could probably afford) does not make her a dependent upon someone else. The husband has the right to set the standard of living.

Astor vs. Astor, Fla., 1956, 89 So2d 645.

POINT II

Does the delivery of irregular earnings of 17 year old son to his mother constitute the regular contributions toward the support and maintenance as required by law for proof of dependency.

This Court has decided on several occasions that the contributions to a dependant must be regular actual and substantial. In Panama City Stevedoring Co. vs. Padgett, supra, the Court reversed a decision awarding compensation because the contributions were not regular. In Cross vs. Sumter County, supra, compensation was denied for this and other reasons. The facts in that cited case are similar to those of the case at bar. the cited case, the deceased was 16 years of age, he had turned over to his parents the money he had received from prior earnings. He had been working for the employer for 11 days at time of death - the one week's pay had been turned over to his father. The Court observed in its opinion, as previously cited:

"At no time could the contributions made have exceeded the cost of support."

The Court also said in its opinion:

"This Court has considered the matter, however, and has determined that before a claimant may be deemed dependent within the law it must be shown that because of physical or mental incapacity or lack of means actual dependency for support exists; that actual and substantial support has been made regularly; and that there is reasonable expectation that it will be made in the future. It was determined, also, that casual gifts at irregular intervals will not support a claim based on dependency. Panama City Stevedoring Co., Inc., et al v. Padgett, 149 Fla. 687, 6 So2d 822."

In the case at bar, the claimant's testimony, without the support of competent medical testimony, is that she was "ailing", and because of that she could not work. She testified that she had given up a job of housework because she "didn't like the situation there.." (R 100C page 47). Her own testimony clearly shows that she and her husband were having marital difficulties. After twenty three years of marriage they separated for three months - June, July and August, 1958. She went to Rockford, Illinois where her three married daughters were living. At one point in her testimony she says that she went there because she and her husband separated - at another point she testified that she went there partly because of her marital difficulties and partly because her 17 year old son, who was living with his sisters, was ill. While she was living with one or the other of her daughters and separated from her husband she did not receive his support. She lived with the daughters three months, working part of this time, then

visited relatives and returned to Orlando to reconcile with her husband.

The rule of law quoted above from the Padgett case includes the element that the support must have been "actual and substantial" and that it must be made "regularly". The claimant in the case at bar has not shown, even in generalities, what the cost of her support was, or that the minor son's earnings were enough to defray the cost of his own support and have some left over. The testimony on this point is that between the two of them, the mother and son, they did not earn enough to be able to support themselves in Illinois, therefore they lived with one or the other of two daughters. Their combined earnings were only sufficient to contribute part of their cost of the food.

The inescapable truth is that both mother and son were living with and at the expense of the two married daughters. The whole family was subsisting while the parents were having their marital differences.

The Deputy Commissioner sluffed over all of the basic elements of dependency without making any findings of fact. She assumed a conclusion, cited a lot of law and ordered that the carrier pay compensation and attorneys fees.

In her summary of the evidence, the deputy stated:

"In March of 1957, the claimant went to Illinois, partially because the deceased had appendicitis and partially because she was having trouble with her husband. She stayed in Illinois until

August of 1957, during which time her son worked at odds and ends, giving her his earnings.

"She testified that they had returned to Florida from Illinois because her son could not get steady employment in the North."

The real basis for the deputy's decision is that since the husband of claimant would not support her due to their marital differences, the insurance carrier should. The Deputy's order is repleat with references to this marital problem, such as:

"When she came back to Florida from Illinois in August of 1957, she lived with her husband for two or three days, but after an argument she and her son moved out and rented an apartment, at which time her son agreed to support her. After he was killed, she went back to her husband. ***

"At the second hearing, the claimant was recalled and testified that her husband had given her a total of \$30.00 during the past three weeks. She stated that he had threatened to kill her if she asked him for support. Except for the three months which she spent in Illinois, more of the support money had come from her husband than her son. A letter from the claimant to her husband dated July 27, 1957, was received into evidence as claimant's Exhibit 1. The gist of this letter is that she wished him happiness with a prospective wife named "Kitty".

The Deputy let her natural sympathy for a fellow woman cloud her judicial processes and reached a conclusion which would aid the woman in trouble. There is no finding of fact of the value of the support given to claimant by the two daughters while she was living with them in Illinois. There is no finding of fact as to whether the deceased earned in the year 1958, or any part thereof, more than his cost of support. The members of the family reported who the employers of the deceased had been.

They estimated the amount he earned from these employers. One daughter said he sent about \$100.00 to his mother,

the mother said he sent about \$200.00 to her. Two of the employers were called by the carrier, one testified that he had paid deceased \$11.75, another denied that she had employed the "sick" boy but testified that on about three occasions she had given him a quarter. The third employer had moved and his whereabouts was unknown. The Deputy did not make a finding of fact which testimony she believed. The Deputy merely makes the conclusion:

"That the claimant was partially dependent on decedent at the time of his death and that this dependency was approximately 50 per cent."

POINT III

Did the Full Commission err in finding that the award of the deputy was supported by competent substantial evidence.

The Deputy Commissioner paid lip service to the rule of law laid down in Hardy vs. City of Tarpon Springs, Fla. 1955, 81 So2d 503; Straehla vs. Bendix-We-Launder-Rite, Fla., 1955, 81 So2d 657 and Andrews vs. Strecker Body Builders, Fla., 1957, 92 So2d 521 wherein it is required that the deputy's order show that she has considered all of the proper evidence presented before her. In the case at bar, the Deputy Commissioner paid lip service to this law by saying:

"1. That the claimant was partially dependent on decedent at the time of his death and that this dependency was approximately 50 per cent."

The next three pages of her order are recital and review of cases which concern and authorize partial parential dependency. We have no quarrel with this recital of the law or the law quoted. It just cannot be stretched

to fit the facts in evidence in this case. In the cases cited there obviously were findings of fact supported by evidence which recited earnings, cost of self support, or the fact of self support, and regular, actual and substantial support of a dependent. In the present case there is no evidence upon which such a finding of fact could be predicated.

The Deputy concludes, without evidence recited in the order or findings of fact based on competent substantial evidence to support the conclusions:

"It is clear from the testimony that the decedent contributed to the support of the claimant to the best of his ability. Her own ability to support herself is not such as to preclude her being his dependent for her capacity is limited by her lack of training and her poor health.

"2. That the dependency of the claimant did not end when she returned to her husband.

"It is clear from the testimony that for the past few years claimant's husband has given her a bare subsistence support."

The Full Commission paid lip service to the line of decisions of this Court which requires that the Full Commission consider whether the Deputy's order is supported by competent substantial evidence. In paying this lip service the Full Commission obviously failed to read the record, the brief of these petitioners or listen to the oral argument. They took the order of the Deputy, carefully recited that they had performed their duty and set forth:

"The employer and carrier controverted this claim on the ground that the deceased's mother was not a dependent and he had no other dependents. The Deputy Commissioner found, inter alia, that, although the mother received some contribution toward her support from her husband, with whom she lived off and on, that she also received practically everything the deceased earned as a contribution toward her support. In her comprehensive order, the Deputy Commissioner discussed the cited Supreme Court cases dealing with dependency both pro and con, and concluded her Order by finding the claimant to be 50 per cent dependent upon the deceased employee at the time of his death and awarded the claimant compensation for 175 weeks."

It may at first blush seem rather harsh for the writer of this brief to say that the full commission failed to consider the record, brief of petitioners and the oral argument but this is obvious when their change in the amount of the award is considered. The argument on this point is under another point in this brief. Deputy found 50 per cent disability. She awarded the claimant 25 per cent of the deceased employee's wages for fifty per cent of the time - 175 weeks. Commission apparently adopted her findings of fact of 50 per cent disability and disagreed with her method of paying it. In changing the method of paying it they should have cut the amount of the weekly payment by 50 per cent and increased the period of payment. They would have reached this conclusion if they had been aware of the facts in the case. As a matter of fact, if they had been aware of the facts of the case they would have determined as they did in Cross vs. Sumter County, supra, that there were no facts in the record to support the Deputy's award of compensation.

This Court should reverse the decision of the

Full Commission and deny compensation because no findings of fact can be devised which would be supported by competent substantial evidence which would justify an award to claimant.

The Deputy failed to follow the rule of law set out by this Court in Andrews vs. Strecker Body Builders, supra, in which it is said:

"It is because of the vital importance of the deputy's findings of fact that an order should show that he has considered all of the proper evidence presented to him. Inadequate findings of fact unsupported by competent substantial evidence will not be permitted to stand.***

This does not mean that the deputy is required to recite the evidence in detail. However, his order should show that he considered all of it. Conversely the order is insufficient if it shows on its fact that he has considered only a limited segment of the competent evidence bearing on an issue."

In the case at bar the deputy carefully obeyed the part of the quoted rule of law requiring recital of the evidence. The Deputy utterly failed to comply with the balance of the rule as stated in the cited case which is stated in these words:

"On the other hand, the order should reflect the fact that he (the Deputy) has actually undertaken to evaluate all of the evidence and has taken into consideration the lay testimony as well as the expert."

In the case at bar, we are not confronted with the differences in lay and expert testimony. We are, however confronted with an analigous situation - the difference between the gross earnings of a minor son, the cost of his support, the conflict in evidence as to his cost of support, and the amount of money which he could contribute to his mother, the amount of money that was in fact required for her support and where it came from. We are also confronted with a determination of fact on what constitutes "actual and substantial support" which is "made regularly".

The Deputy utterly failed to make any findings of fact as contrasted to conclusions of the deputy on the "actual and substantial support". If the deputy had followed the mathematical approach as was used in Spellman vs. Spellman, Fla. 1958, 103 So2d 661, and all the other Florida cases, she would have had to deny compensation.

The presumtion of dependency which exists in favor of the widow and minor children of a deceased employee does not exist as to the dependency of a mother on her minor son. To meet the burden of proof required to show dependency of a mother on her minor son, the mother, of necessity, must produce evidence which is more certain than generalities. The claimant did not do so in this case.

Definite proof by claimant in a mother-son dependency extends to the element of "made regularly". This Court has uniformly held that the "made regularly" is a past tense requirement. No time limit has ever been firmly fixed in Florida. The proof in all the cases except the Spellman case, supra, has involved years. In the Spellman case the deceased had been working at his new job which made him independant and capable of not only supporting himself but contributing to his mother for seven or eight weeks. He had actually passed the

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