IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MACDON LUMBER COMPANY AND MASSACHUSETTS BONDING & INSURANCE COMPANY,

PETITIONERS,

-75-

MRS. FANNIE MAE STEVENSONAND FLORIDA INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Edward R. Kirkland Attorney for Respondent 606 Metcalf Building Orlando, Florida

ARGUMENT

The responment respectfully disagrees with the points involved on appeal as set forth in the petitioners[†] brief and states that the only point involved in this appeal is whether the Deputy Commissioner erred in finding as a matter of fact and law that the respondent, Fannie Mae Stevenson, was and is a dependent of the deceased, William Louis Stevenson.

After hearing all the testimony and considering the depositions the Deputy Commissioner, Bette T. Miller, entered an order and award in the above styled cause and the same was filed on February 19, 1959. The Deputy Commissioner found among other things "that the claimant was partially DEPENDENT ON DECEASED AT THE TIME OF HIS DEATH AND THAT THIS DEPENDENCY WAS APPROXIMATELY 50%." Subsequently the Florida Industrial Commission Affirmed the finding of the Deputy Commissioner but modified the order to the extent that they allowed 350 weeks compensation instead of 175 weeks. The employer-carrier have filed their petition for certiorari to review the order of the Florida Industrial Commission and the Deputy Commissioner.

In finding that the respondent was a dependent upon the deceased the Deputy Commissioner reviewed several cases that have been before this Court and the District Courts of Florida. In those cases and in others what constitutes dependency has been defined as follows:

" * * PROOF OF ACTUAL DEPENDENCY DOES NOT NECESSARILY REQUIRE A SHOWING THAT CLAIMANT RELIED ON DECEASED FOR BARE NECESSITIES OF LIFE AND WITHOUT HIS CONTRIBUTION WOULD HAVE BEEN REDUCED TO DESTITUTION, IT BEING SUFFICIENT TO SHOW THAT DECEASED'S CONTRI-BUTIONS WERE LOOKED TO BY CLAIMANT FOR MAINTENANCE OF CLAIMANT'S ACCUSTOMED STANDARD OF LIVING SO THAT A CLAIMANT MAY BE 'DEPENDENT' ALTHOUGH RECEIVING OTHER INCOME FROM CLAIMANT'S OWN WORK, FROM PROPERTY OR FROM OTHER PERSONS ON WHOM CLAIMANT IS ALSO DEPENDENT."

"A showing of actual dependency to qualify for death benefits under compensation act does not require proof that, without decedent's contributions, claimant would have lacked the NECESSITIES OF LIFE, BUT TEST IS WHETHER HIS CONTRIBUTIONS WERE RELIED ON BY CLAIMANT TO MAINTAIN CLAIMANT'S ACCUSTOMED MODE OF LIVING." SPELLMAN V. SPELLMAN 103 So. 2D 661

It is interesting to note that in the Spellman case the deceased employee had only been working regularly for approximately six weeks prior to his death and had been contributing to the family pool the sum of \$10.00 per week. In the Spellman case the claimant testified that prior to the deceased's last job his contribution to the household expenses averaged very small but that they were always commensurate with what he earned.

Based on these facts the Deputy Commissioner found the claimant partially dependent on her son and awarded her the statutory amount. Relying on the fact that although the deceased himself was a partial dependent up until eight weeks before his death, he also contributed what he could toward his mother's maintenance when he would earn some money.

ON REVIEW THE FULL COMMISSION SUSTAINED THE ORDER AND THE EMPLOYER APPEALED. ON APPEAL THE

- 3 -

DISTRICT COURT SAID:

"There is no question but that the mother in this case was and is a dependent. The only question on appeal is whether she was partially dependent on her deceased son."

THE DISTRICT COURT HELD AS DID THE FULL COMMISSION THAT THE CLAIMANT WAS PARTIALLY DEPENDENT ON HER DECEASED SON AND AWARDED COMPENSATION. THE DISTRICT COURT IN AFFIRMING THE FULL COMMISSION SAID:

"The law is well settled that who are ¹dependents⁴ within Workman¹s Compensation Act is a question of fact to be determined by the circumstances of each particular case, and the question here is whether there is any substantial, competent evidence to sustain the findings of the Deputy Commissioner.

WE ARE OF THE OPINION THAT DEPENDENCY IN FACT MUST BE ESTABLISHED IN ORDER TO QUALIFY FOR DEATH BENEFITS IN ALL CASES EXCEPT THOSE INVOLVING A CONCLUSIVE PRESUMPTION OF DEPENDENCY. PROOF OF ACTUAL DEPENDENCY DOES NOT NECESSARILY REQUIRE A SHOWING THAT THE CLAIMANT RELIED ON THE DECEASED FOR THE BARE NECESSITIES OF LIFE AND WITHOUT HIS CONTRIBUTION WOULD HAVE BEEN REDUCED TO DESTITUTION; IT IS SUFFICIENT TO SHOW THAT THE DECEASED'S CONTRIBUTIONS WERE LOOKED TO BY CLAINENT FOR THE MAINTENANCE OF CLAIMANT'S ACCUSTOMED STANDARD OF LIVING. HENCE A CLAIMANT MAY BE DEPENDENT ALTHOUGH RECEIVING OTHER INCOME FROM CLAIMANT'S OWN WORK, FROM PROPERTY OR FROM OTHER PERSONS ON WHOM CLAIMANT IS ALSO DEPENDENT. A SHOWING OF ACTUAL DEPENDENCY DOES NOT REQUIRE PROOF THAT. WITHOUT DECEDENT'S CONTRIBUTIONS. CLAIMANT WOULD HAVE LACKED THE NECESSARIES OF LIPE. THE TEST IS WHETHER HIS CONTRIBUTIONS WERE RELIED ON BY CLAIMANT TO MAINTAIN

- 4 -

CLAIMANT'S ACCUSTOMED MODE OF LIVING.

Under our statute, Section 440.16, the dependency status is fixed as of the date of death. The decedent had been working regularly for seven or eight weeks. He had been regularly contributing toward the support and maintenance of claimant, and it can be reasonably assumed that he would have continued to be regularly employed and would continue to contribute to the support of claimant but for his fatal injury. At the time of decedent's death the claimant was partially dependent upon him."

In the instant case it is interesting to refer to the testimony of the respondent's husband in order to arrive at the precise understanding of the situation in which respondent found herself prior to and subsequent to the death of her son. On this point I refer to the following excerpts of testimony of Elbert Stevenson:

- "Q. Do they have any sort of procedure over at Traylor Chemical Company whereby a man's wife can draw Advances on his salary?
- A. No, SIR, IN FACT YOU CAN'T GET IT YOURSELF, THAT IS ALL RULED OUT. THEY HAVE A RULE ON THAT THAT ANYBODY CAN GET ENOUGH JUST TO MAKE THE TRIP ON BUT THAT'S IT.
- Q. Do they ever allow you to have your wife pick that up, any money for expenses?
- A. THAT IS UP TO YOU, THAT IS ALL UP TO YOU.
- Q. In other words if you should be away on a trip at the end of the month if you wanted it to be that way she could go over and get it?
- A. I would have to fix it for her to do it she couldn't just walk out there and get the money.

- Q. You do not have it arranged that wwy?
- A. No str I handle my money myself, I make it and I handle it myself.
- Q. Do you know what William was doing with the money he was earning?
- A. Well he was helping the family, my wife and what else he done with it I don't know.
- Q. But you know he was giving some of it to his mother?
- A. YES.
- Q. DID YOU EVER SEE HIM GIVE ANY TO YOUR WIFE?
- A. Yes I did. I remember him giving it to her but I don't know how much it was.
- Q. How many times have you ever seen him give her money?
- A. Well I can't even answer that. I have seen him give it to her several times."

IN REFERRING TO THE AMOUNT OF MONEY CONTRIBUTED

TO THE RESPONDENT BY THE DECEASED, THE FOLLOWING

EXCHANGE WAS HAD:

"Q. How do you know it was more than that?"

A. Well it was a roll of bills. I didn't check it, I didn't count it, I'll put it that way. I didn't have no interest in what he was giving her or how much. I'll put it this way: Me and her didn't get along well for quite a while and I didn't pay no attention to them and when I left I bought me a cabin out here in the country and moved. out. * * In referring to the support of the respondent subsequent to his moving from the house, the witness and the employer's attorney went on as follows:

- "Q. DID YOU SEND THEM ANY MONEY UP THERE?"
- A. No sir hell no, when they left me I let them support themselves and look out for themselves, it wasn't none of my care, no sir Buddy."

Continuing the questions:

- "Q. AND THEN SHE CAME ON BACK DOWN TO ORLANDO?
- A. Yes when I come back down here she was already down here at my son's.
- Q. DID YOU START LIVING WITH HER THEN?
- A. No.
- Q. You didn't go back and live with your wife when she came back from Illinois?
- A. No I still had my cabin. I was fixing to marry another woman, I don't know if you know that or not but I was fixing to marry another woman, I was fixing to file for a divorce. I was just fixing to marry another woman then."

AFTER SEVERAL QUESTIONS CONCERNING WHERE THE

WITNESS IS NOW LIVING THE FOLLOWING EXCHANGE WAS HAD:

- "Q. Is that the same place you moved in with your wife After your son died?
- A. No they had rented this apartment and that was the first place.
- Q. ON GODDARD AVENUE, GODDARD STREET?
- A. Yes, and I went back there for the sake of the kids to make it look decent.

- Q. AND HAVE YOU LIVED WITH HER SINCE THEN?
- A. YES WHEN I AM HERE.
- Q. WHEN YOU ARE HERE YOU LIVE WITH HER?
- A. Yes but I won't say how long it will last. We are not getting along so hot and that is why I am not trying to make a go of it now.
- Q. Mr. Stevenson while you were still living with your wife, well before they went to Illinois what sort of arrangement did you have with your wife as far as paying the bills and buying the groceries and things like that?
- A. I GIVE HER WHAT I HAD TO AND NOT NO DAMN MORE.
- Q. You mean to say you don't have any idea what you gave your wife to buy the groceries with and pay bills?
- A. No there was no set amount and I don't know what It was but it was just enough to get by with and no more.
- Q. AND THIS HAS BEEN AS FAR BACK AS YOU CAN REMEMBER THE WAY YOU HAVE BEEN DOING IT?
- A. Yes, just what I could get by with and no more. William was helping her so why should I?
- Q. DID YOU HAVE A CHARGE ACCOUNT ANYWHERE THAT SHE COULD BUY GAS?
- A. NO SIR. IF SHE CHARGED IT SHE HAD TO PAY IT. I PAY MY OWN BILLS, BUT I HAVE AN ACCOUNT.

THE WITNESS: I TOLD HIN I DIDN'T GET ALONG WITH HER FOR SOME TIME, I THOUGHT I MADE IT CLEAR TO HIM ALONG THAT LINE. THAT IS THE REASON BILL QUIT SCHOOL TO HELP HER OUT.

- Q. WELL IS YOUR WIFE BEING SUPPORTED NOW?
- A. I TRY TO HELP HER EAT I'LL PUT IT THAT WAY.

- Q. How much money have you given your wife since this last time you have gone back together on an average?
- A. I DON'T EVEN KNOW THAT. I TOLD YOU I DIDN'T KEEP UP WITH THAT STUFF.
- Q. Would it be as much as 30 or 40 or 50 dollars a week?
- A. No, HELL NO.
- Q. Would it be as much as 25 dollars a week?
- A. I DON'T KNOW.
- Q. You told me you kept a record of it?
- A. I DON'T KEEP NO RECORD, BUT IT WAS WITHIN REASON.
- Q. How much would be in reason?
- A. I DON'T KNOW, NO MORE THAN I COULD HELP.
- Q. DID YOU EVER TELL YOUR WIFE THAT IF SHE EVER BROUGHT COURT PROCEEDINGS AGAINST YOU YOU WOULD KILL HER?
- A. Yes hell yes and the lawyer throwed in with her. I would go to jail and sit there before I would pay a woman support, because I work all the time now anyway.
- Q. Well you never did give her any more in the last three or four years than you had to?
- A. THAT'S RIGHT, NEVER OVER TEN OR FIFTEEN DOLLARS AT THE MOST. I WAS BUYING A CAR AND BUYING A PLACE OR PAYING RENT AND I AM STILL IN DEBT ON MY CAR.
- Q. Well do I understand then that you didn't give your wife any money from the time she left and went to Illinois until you started living with her again after your son's death?
- A. NO I DIDN[†]T GIVE HER ANYTHING.

- Q. Well then the gist of your testimony is that in the last three or four years you have never given your wife any more than you had to?
- A. THAT'S RIGHT. WOULD YOU GIVE ANYBODY ANY MONEY YOU BIDN'T GET ALONG WITH?
- Q. JOU WERE DOING THAT BEFORE YOUR SON DIED TOO WEREN'T YOU?
- A. I GAVE HER MONEY THEN BUT I GIVE HER LESS NOW THAT I DID THEN.
- Q. IF YOU DON'T KNOW HOW MUCH YOU WERE GIVING HER BEFORE AND YOU DON'T KNOW NOW HOW DO YOU KNOW IT IS LESS?
- A. I give her just as damn little as I can.
- Q. But as a matter of fact Mrs. Stevenson has less money now than she had before William died because she lost the income she got from William?
- A. THAT'S RIGHT SHE IS BOUND TO BECAUSE I AIN'T GIVING HER NO MORE NOW THAN I WAS THEN.
- Q. AND SHE WAS GETTING HELP FROM WILLIAM THEN?
- A. THAT'S RIGHT.
- Q. AND THAT MADE IT ENOUGH FOR HER TO GET ALONG WITH?
- A. THAT'S RIGHT.
- Q. AND YOU WENT BACK TO HER BECAUSE OF WILLIAM?
- A. THAT'S RIGHT, TO MAKE IT LOOK DECENT TO OUR FRIENDS.
- Q. AND YOU ARE NOT PAYING HER ANY MORE SUPPORT MONEY THAN YOU HAVE TO AND YOU ARE GIVING HER LESS THAN YOU WERE WHEN WILLIAM WAS LIVING?
- A. YES."

IT IS APPARENT FROM THE ABOVE EXCHANGE THAT THE HUSBAND OF THE RESPONDENT IS NOT AND HAS NOT FOR SOME TIME ASSUMED ANY OBLIGATION TO DO ANYTHING BUT FURNISH THE BARE NECESSITIES OF LIFE TO MRS. Stevenson. The right of the respondent to go into court to compel support is a corollary matter and dependent among many things and such recourse is not made necessary. It is also apparent from the above quoted testimony that the respondent herein was and is a dependent. The only question remaining is was she partially dependent on her deceased child.

IN THE CASE OF <u>PANAMA CITY STEVEDORING CO., INC.</u> <u>ET AL -VS- PADGETT, 6 So. 2D 822</u>, THE COURT ESTABLISHED A RULE BY WHICH FUTURE CASES HAVE BEEN DETERMINED AND WHICH IS AS FOLLOWS:

"IT MUST BE SHOWN THAT THE CLAIMANT IS FROM PHYSICAL OR MENTAL INCAPACITY, OR LACK OF MEANS, DEPENDENT ON THE DECEASED FOR SUPPORT, THAT ACTUAL AND SUBSTANTIAL SUPPORT MUST HAVE BEEN RECEIVED BY CLAIMANT FROM DECEASED, THAT SUCH SUPPORT MUST BE SHOWN TO HAVE BEEN MADE REGULARLY WITH REASONABLE EXPECTATION TO BE MADE IN THE FUTURE AND THAT CASUAL GIFTS AT IRREGULAR INTERVALS WILL NOT SUPPORT A CLAIM BASED ON DEPENDENCY."

It is to be observed that the claimant in the Padgett case supra made her home with her daughter; that she had an old age pension and the most that the decedent son, from whom she was claiming dependency, had ever contributed to her support were

- 11 -

CASUAL GIFTS AT CHRISTMAS TIME AND THAT SHE HAD OTHER MEANS OF SUPPORT.

Distinguishing the two cases, it has been conclusively shown and held by the Deputy Commissioner that the deceased recognized and did contribute to his mother's support at all times when his income would permit; that his payments of money to his mother were not casual gifts, but were in recognition of a need on her part and an obligation on his.

IN THE CASE OF <u>CROSS</u> ET UX -VS- SUMTER COUNTY, ET AL, 13 So. 2D 219, THE COURT FOUND AMONG OTHER THINGS:

"The fair implication from the evidence is that he intended to return to school when it resumed in June of the same year. His first week's wages had been turned over to the father. Before that time all that the father had received from the son were certain small sums derived from selling peanuts and doing odd jobs after school hours. At no time could the contributions made have exceeded the cost of support."

THE COURT THEN AGAIN REAFFIRMED THE CRITERION OF THE PADGET CASE SUPRA WHEN IT HELD THAT:

"Before a claimant may be deemed a 'compensable dependent', it must be shown that because of physical or mental incapacity or lack of means, actual dependency for support exists, that actual and substantial support has been made regularly <u>and that there is reasonable expectation that it</u> will be made in the future." (Emphasis supplied) The facts in the case now under consideration show without equivocation that the decedent had been making regular contributions; that the probability of future employment was good, and that the mother/ claimant could reasonable expect him to contribute in the future as he had in the past, and that the deceased and the mother/claimant had set up housekeeping together with an agreement that they would continue to live together and the mother would look to the son as her sole means of support.

Another case decided by our Supreme Court on the question of dependency of a mother is that of <u>PALM BEACH DAIRY COMPANY et al -vs- RYAN et al</u>, 18 So. 2d 537 in which the Court found:

> "FRANK A. RYAN WAS KILLED IN AUGUST, 1940, while on duty and in the employ of Palm Beach Dairy Company. He was unmarried, was making \$17.50 per week and was living with his mother, who was dependent on him for support. The insurance carrier paid compensation to Mrs. Ryan, the mother, for forty-seven weeks at \$6.25 per week and then discontinued the payments because some half brothers had entered into a contract to pay her \$15.00 per week for a limited period.

The question presented is whether such payments had the effect of relieving the mother of dependency as contemplated by Section 440.16, Florida Statutes 1941, F. S. A. (Workmen's Compensation Act) and thereby destroy her claim for compensation.

WE THINK THIS QUESTION REQUIRES A NEGATIVE ANSWER.

Who are dependents under the Workmen's Compensation Act is relative and may be influenced by many factors, but it is not limited to such as have a bare subsistence living or perchance a limited income from other sources. Somewhere along the road from rags to affluence, the right to workman's compensation would no doubt be surrendered but we hold this point to be above the bar subsistence level."

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